Differential impacts of native and introduced ungulates on Rough ...

Clark, Michael Rawson *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses;* 2010; ProQuest pg. n/a

University of Alberta

Differential impacts of native and introduced ungulates on Rough Fescue Grassland root production and turnover

by

Michael Rawson Clark

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Plant Ecology

Department of Biological Sciences

©Michael Rawson Clark Fall 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-71263-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-71263-4

NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Examining Committee

James F. Cahill, Biological Sciences

Evelyn H. Merrill, Biological Sciences

Edward W. Bork, Agriculture, Food and Nutritional Science

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Overview of grassland root production and lifespan and comparisons impacts of native and introduced ungulates	
1.1 Root production	
1.2 Knowledge gaps about native and introduced ungulate effects on belowground p	
1.3 Predicting different impacts of native and introduced ungulates	
1.4 Thesis overview	
Bibliography	5
2. Non-additive effects of insects and ungulates on root growth in a native grassla	nd9
2.1 Introduction	9
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Study Site	11 11
2.2.3 Response measurements	
2.2.4 Statistical Analyses	13
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Shoot production	
2.3.2 Root production	
2.4 Discussion	
2.4 Discussion	
2.4.2 Native and non-native herbivore impacts	
2.5 Figures	19
2.6 Tables	25
Bibliography	27
Chapter 3. Immediate responses of temperate grassland fine root production differentive and introduced ungulates	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Methods	33
3.2.2 Experimental design	
3.2.3 Root lifespan and production	36
3.2.4 Response variables	
3.2.5 Data analysis	
3.2.7 Survival analysis	
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Evidence of ungulate herbivory	
3.3.2 Aboveground biomass	
3.3.3 Root lifespan	
•	
3.4 Discussion	
3.4.2 Biologically important factors	

3.4.3 Alternative hypotheses explaining native and introduced grazer impacts on fine root	
survival	47
3.4.4 Native ungulate assemblage effects on rangeland production	
3.4.5 Conclusions	50
3.5 Figures	52
3.6 Tables	68
Bibliography	
Chapter 4. Implications on different root production and turnover responses to rintroduced ungulates	
4.1 Research summary and conclusions	79
4.2 Methodological considerations	81
4.3 Implications for carbon and nitrogen cycling	83
4.4 Future research	83
Bibliography	84
Appendix I. Percent cover of plant species in the treatment plots of the insect and	
herbivory experiment.	87
Appendix I.A: Percent cover of plant species in the native ungulate paddocks	87
Appendix I.B. Percent cover of plant species in the cattle paddocks	89

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Paddock arrangement and experimental layout
Figure 2.2. Mean arthropod abundances per treatment during 2004 and 2005 20
Figure 2.3. Mean shoot production (g m ⁻² after 112 days) of grazing treatments. 21
Figure 2.4. Mean root production (g m ⁻² after 112 days) of grazing treatments 22
Figure 2.5. Mean total (shoot plus root) production (g m ⁻² after 112 days) of
grazing treatments
Figure 2.6. A conceptual model relating the intensity of insect grazing to plant
responses to ungulate grazing
Figure 3.1. Hypothetical diagram of factors affecting root mortality 52
Figure 3.2. Schematic of the paddock arrangement and grazing frequency
transects over top of minirhizotron tubes
Figure 3.3. The proportion of quadrats showing grass, forb and shrub herbivory in
the cattle and native ungulate assemblage treatments
Figure 3.4. The difference in shoot biomass (g m ⁻²) after one and two years of
grazing from the year before grazing started55
Figure 3.5. The effects of native ungulate and cattle assemblages on the difference
in graminoid, forb and shrub biomass (g m ⁻²) between 2003 and 2004 or 200556
Figure 3.6. Proportional hazard regression results of covariate effects on the risk
of root mortality under grazing by native ungulates and cattle 58
Figure 3.7. Mean lifespan of roots born in 2004 under native and cattle grazing. 59
Figure 3.8. The relative risk of a grazed community root dying as compared to an
ungrazed community root for different diameters between 0.1 mm and 1.0 mm. 60
Figure 3.9. The probability of survival for roots of grazed and ungrazed plant
communities in native ungulate or cattle treatments
Figure 3.10. The difference of root length of May 2004 and each post-grazing
imaging session for native ungulate and cattle assemblages
Figure 3.11. The difference of dead root length of May 2004 and each post-
grazing imaging session for native ungulate and cattle assemblages
Figure 3.12. The ratio of total standing root crop for dates biomass was collected
after grazing started with biomass collected in May 2004 for native and cattle
assemblages
Figure 3.13. The difference of root diameter (mm) between May 2004 and each
post-grazing imaging session for native ungulate and cattle assemblages 66
Figure 3.14. The difference of dead root diameter (mm) between May 2004 and
each post-grazing imaging session for native ungulate and cattle assemblages 67

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Results of a GLMM on insect abundance data collected from sweep	
netting in 2004	5
Table 2.2. Results of a GLMM for cattle and native ungulate assemblages on	
shoot, root and total production	6
Table 3.1. ANOVA results comparing the aboveground biomass differences (pre-	-
grazing - post grazing in 2004 and 2005) between grazed and ungrazed grassland	
plots6	8
Table 3.2. MANOVA results comparing the aboveground biomass difference	
between pre- and post grazing (2004 and 2005) of graminoid, forb and shrubs 6	9
Table 3.3. Results of proportional hazards regression for individual root lifespan.	
7	0
Table 3.4. Results of a RM GLMM on root length and diameter	2
Table 3.5. Results of GLMM of 2004 root lifespans	3

Chapter 1. Overview of grassland root production and lifespans and comparisons of the impacts of native and introduced ungulates

1.1 Root production

Root production accounts for 30% of terrestrial biomass (Jackson *et al.*, 1996), and drives soil carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) cycling (Pineiro *et al.*; Post *et al.*, 1982; McNaughton *et al.*, 1997). Two categories based on diameter exist for roots: large roots (> 2 mm) and fine roots (≤ 2 mm). Large roots are primarily used for structure and photosynthate storage. Fine roots are a plant's water and nutrient foraging organs, the counterparts to leaves that accumulate CO_2 and sunlight. Research into static measures of standing root crop are extensive (Jackson *et al.*, 1996; Frank *et al.*, 1998; Steinaker & Wilson, 2008), but little is known about the mechanisms affecting fine root production and turnover (Eissenstat *et al.*, 2000).

Fine roots play at least two globally significant roles in ecosystem processes: nutrient acquisition and as the building blocks of soil organic carbon. Because of their short lifespans, which range from weeks to a few years (Sims & Singh, 1978; Gill *et al.*, 2002; Peek *et al.*, 2005; Stewart & Frank, 2008; Strand *et al.*, 2008), fine roots drive soil C and nutrient cycling (Jackson *et al.*, 1997; Strand *et al.*, 2008). Young roots of a diameter of < 1 mm are the primary pathway for plant nutrient and water uptake (Bauerle *et al.*, 2008; Volder & Eissenstat, 2008). As conduits for photosynthate, fine roots in crops use as much as 50% of photosynthate for production and maintenance (Lambers 1987). The proportion of carbon used for maintenance differs between plant species, with grasses shunting three times a much C belowground as shrubs, most of which is lost to respiration (Carbone & Trumbore 2008). Much of the remaining C is transferred to the soil (Pineiro *et al.*).

Nowhere is the role of fine roots greater in proportion to large roots than grasslands. Large roots comprise up to 90% of belowground biomass in forest ecosystems, yet they account for only 3% in temperate grasslands (Jackson *et al.*, 1996; Jackson *et al.*, 1997; Pucheta *et al.*, 2004). Globally, grasslands generate 13.6 x 10⁶ Mg of fine roots per year, which is 17% of the global total (Jackson *et*

al., 1997). Grass and rangelands cover greater than 50% of the Earth's terrestrial surface (Menke & Bradford, 1992), and are expanding as forests are removed to make areas managed for ungulate grazing (Woodward et al. 2004). Ungulates have large impacts on root production and turnover, but have not historically been present in all grasslands (Milchunas et al., 1988; Milchunas & Lauenroth, 1993). As global ecosystems change from historical ecosystems to those with large herds of domestic ungulates, an understanding of how fine root production and turnover is affected by ungulate grazing is vital to making accurate models of global C and N cycles.

1.2 Knowledge gaps about native and introduced ungulate effects on belowground production

Ungulate grazing is one of the prominent factors affecting above and belowground grassland primary production (McNaughton, 1979; McNaughton, 1984; Knapp *et al.*, 1999; Frank *et al.*, 2002). Under conditions of adequate moisture availability (Sims & Singh, 1978; Stohlgren *et al.*, 1999; Frank, 2007) and long histories of co-evolution between herbivores and plants (Milchunas *et al.*, 1988; Milchunas & Lauenroth, 1993; Pucheta *et al.*, 2004) ungulate grazing stimulates shoot and root production. However, grassland dynamics worldwide have shifted with the replacement of many large native ungulate herds by domestic cattle (Menke & Bradford, 1992; Riginos & Young, 2007). The impacts of changes from diverse assemblages to introduced monocultures, which differ in terms of composition and numbers of ungulates, are poorly understood. Furthermore, few studies have actually compared the impacts of native and introduced ungulates (Wisdom *et al.*, 2006), and none that I am aware of focus on belowground production.

Limited research to date has compared the effects of native and introduced ungulates on grasslands from North America and Africa (Wisdom *et al.*, 2006; Riginos & Young, 2007). In African systems, while most native ungulate communities remain intact they are dwindling as cattle management is applied to

increasing amounts of land (Riginos & Young, 2007). When cattle replace wild ungulates, tree and shrub encroachment may increase as grasses are forced to deal with greater stress aboveground (Roques *et al.*, 2001; Riginos & Young, 2007), or there may be a small reduction in forb biomass (Odadi *et al.*, 2007). There has been no investigation into cattle effects on African grassland root systems compared to native ungulates.

In North America, bison, elk and deer assemblages have been replaced almost completely by cattle (Allen, 1877; Soper, 1941; Murie, 1951; Hobbs, 1996). Native grazers (bison, Bison bison) and browsers (e.g., deer, Odocoileus spp.) have different impacts on plant aboveground production and ecosystem diversity than cattle (Plumb & Dodd, 1993; O'Neill et al., 2003; Towne et al., 2005). Cattle are more of a generalist herbivore than bison, consuming more forbs and browse, and less C₄ grasses (Plumb & Dodd, 1993). Compared to areas with bison, areas with cattle grazing have higher biomass of grasses and lower biomass of forbs (Towne et al., 2005). The feeding and behavioural differences (e.g., wallowing) between bison and cattle result in higher diversity and abundance of native insects and rodents in bison areas, compared to those with cattle (Matlack et al., 2001; Fay, 2003; Joern, 2005). Effects of North American native browsers mirror those of their African counterparts. Kay & Bartos (2000) found that cattle avoided feeding on aspen (Populus tremuloides) saplings, whereas native browsers reduced aspen stand regeneration, which increased native grass and forb abundance. However, like African systems, there have been no studies conducted that compare the effects of native and introduced ungulate effects on root production or turnover.

1.3 Predicting different impacts of native and introduced ungulates

In North America, grasslands historically supported several large herds of migratory and resident species, including bison, elk and deer were the dominant ungulates. Bison are graminoid specialist grazers, while elk and deer forage in large part on tree and shrub foliage, as well as forbs and graminoids (Soper, 1941;

Murie, 1951; Soper, 1964; Merrill, 1994; Didkowsky, 2006). Since bison eradication in the late 1800's, cattle have become the dominant grazers, however there is little data about the relative impacts of these two grazing assemblages. However, the partitioning of resources by different ungulate species in a diverse native ungulate assemblage may result in different impacts on grassland production than cattle monocultures.

In African grasslands, theory has been developed suggesting that diverse assemblages partitioned resources to minimize inter-specific competition (McNaughton & Georgiadis, 1986; Voeten & Prins, 1999; Murray & Illius, 2000). For example, large ungulates (e.g., bison) with wide mouth / tongues crop closer to the ground than smaller ungulates (e.g., elk) (McNaughton & Georgiadis, 1986; Murray & Illius, 2000). However, smaller ungulates are able to select leafy parts of vegetation (e.g., browse from stems, or reproductive areas of grasses) (McNaughton & Georgiadis, 1986; Murray & Illius, 2000). During the growing season when food supplies are ample, this leads to reduced competition (Murray & Illius, 2000; Arsenault & Owen-Smith, 2002) and higher consumer productivity. By assuming that North American ungulate assemblages evolved in a similar fashion (to reduce competition by partitioning resources), I hypothesize that a diverse native ungulate assemblage will have a lower impact on belowground production and turnover than cattle monocultures.

1.4 Thesis overview

In 2003, the Precision Ranching Initiative was started to compare the relative impacts of native ungulates and cattle on Rough Fescue Prairie. The Rough Fescue Prairie is a savanna type habitat with aspen stands interspersed within rough fescue grassland. This thesis reports on the belowground component of a whole ecosystem study that investigated the impacts of native and introduced grazers on decomposition, ungulate behaviour, resource partitioning, and aboveground effects. My main thesis objective was to compare how native and introduced ungulates impact belowground primary production in Rough Fescue

Grassland. I hypothesized that a diverse native ungulates assemblage would have a lower impact on grassland aboveground production than cattle due to their varied foraging strategies, thereby leading to higher belowground production.

To test this hypothesis I examined belowground production in two ways. First, I investigated the interactive effects of ungulates and insects have on annual root production, and whether the nature of that interaction differed between native and introduced assemblages (Chapter 2). Second, I investigated how native ungulates and cattle affect fine root production, morphology, and turnover, including whether grazing has an interactive effect with other factors that affect root mortality (Chapter 3). The final Chapter contains a discussion about the ecological implications of my findings on the differential impacts of native and introduced grazers on belowground production (Chapter 4).

Bibliography

- Allen JA 1877. History of the american bison, bison americanus. In. Washington D.C., USA: Government Printing Office.
- Arsenault R, Owen-Smith N. 2002. Facilitation versus competition in grazing herbivore assemblages. *Oikos* 97(3): 313-318.
- Bauerle TL, Smart DR, Bauerle WL, Stockert C, Eissenstat DM. 2008. Root foraging in response to heterogeneous soil moisture in two grapevines that differ in potential growth rate. *New Phytologist* 179(3): 857-866.
- **Didkowsky MG. 2006.** Scales of forage selection by ungulates in aspen parkland., University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Eissenstat DM, Wells CE, Yanai RD, Whitbeck JL. 2000. Building roots in a changing environment: Implications for root longevity. *New Phytologist* 147(1): 33-42.
- **Fay PA. 2003.** Insect diversity in two burned and grazed grasslands. *Environmental Entomology* **32**(5): 1099-1104.
- **Frank DA. 2007.** Drought effects on above- and belowground production of a grazed temperate grassland ecosystem. *Oecologia* **152**(1): 131-139.
- Frank DA, Kuns MM, Guido DR. 2002. Consumer control of grassland plant production. *Ecology* 83(3): 602-606.
- Frank DA, McNaughton SJ, Tracy BF. 1998. The ecology of the earth's grazing ecosystems. *Bioscience* 48(7): 513-521.
- Gill RA, Burke IC, Lauenroth WK, Milchunas DG. 2002. Longevity and turnover of roots in the shortgrass steppe: Influence of diameter and depth. *Plant Ecology* 159(2): 241-251.
- **Hobbs NT. 1996.** Modification of ecosystems by ungulates. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **60**(4): 695-713.

- Jackson RB, Canadell J, Ehleringer JR, Mooney HA, Sala OE, Schulze ED. 1996. A global analysis of root distributions for terrestrial biomes. *Oecologia* 108(3): 389-411.
- Jackson RB, Mooney HA, Schulze ED. 1997. A global budget for fine root biomass, surface area, and nutrient contents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94(14): 7362-7366.
- **Joern A. 2005.** Disturbance by fire frequency and bison grazing modulate grasshopper assemblages in tallgrass prairie. *Ecology* **86**(4): 861-873.
- **Kay CE, Bartos DL. 2000.** Ungulate herbivory on utah aspen: Assessment of long-term exclosures. *Journal of Range Management* **53**(2): 145-153.
- Knapp AK, Blair JM, Briggs JM, Collins SL, Hartnett DC, Johnson LC, Towne EG. 1999. The keystone role of bison in north american tallgrass prairie bison increase habitat heterogeneity and alter a broad array of plant, community, and ecosystem processes. *Bioscience* 49(1): 39-50.
- Matlack RS, Kaufman DW, Kaufman GA. 2001. Influence of grazing by bison and cattle on deer mice in burned tallgrass prairie. *American Midland Naturalist* 146(2): 361-368.
- **McNaughton SJ. 1979.** Grazing as an optimization process grass ungulate relationships in the serengeti. *American Naturalist* **113**(5): 691-703.
- McNaughton SJ. 1984. Grazing lawns animals in herds, plant form, and coevolution. *American Naturalist* 124(6): 863-886.
- McNaughton SJ, Banyikwa FF, McNaughton MM. 1997. Promotion of the cycling of diet-enhancing nutrients by african grazers. *Science* 278(5344): 1798-1800.
- McNaughton SJ, Georgiadis NJ. 1986. Ecology of african grazing and browsing animals. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 17: 39-65.
- Menke J, Bradford GE. 1992. Rangelands. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 42(1-2): 141-163.
- Merrill EH. 1994. Summer foraging ecology of wapiti (cervus elaphus roosevelti) in the mount st-helens blast zone. Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne De Zoologie 72(2): 303-311.
- Milchunas DG, Lauenroth WK. 1993. Quantitative effects of grazing on vegetation and soils over a global range of environments. *Ecological Monographs* 63(4): 327-366.
- Milchunas DG, Sala OE, Lauenroth WK. 1988. A generalized model of the effects of grazing by large herbivores on grassland community structure. American Naturalist 132(1): 87-106.
- **Murie OJ. 1951.** *The elk of north america*. Harrisburg, Pennsylvannia, USA: Stackpole Books.
- Murray MG, Illius AW. 2000. Vegetation modification and resource competition in grazing ungulates. *Oikos* 89(3): 501-508.
- O'Neill KM, Olson BE, Rolston MG, Wallander R, Larson DP, Seibert CE. 2003. Effects of livestock grazing on rangeland grasshopper (orthoptera: Acrididae) abundance. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* 97(1-3): 51-64.

- Odadi WO, Young TP, Okeyo-Owuor JB. 2007. Effects of wildlife on cattle diets in laikipia rangeland, kenya. *Rangeland Ecology & Management* 60(2): 179-185.
- Peek MS, Leffler AJ, Ivans CY, Ryel RJ, Caldwell MM. 2005. Fine root distribution and persistence under field conditions of three co-occurring great basin species of different life form. New Phytologist 165(1): 171-180.
- Pineiro G, Paruelo JM, Oesterheld M, Jobbagy EG. Pathways of grazing effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen. Rangeland Ecology & Management 63(1): 109-119.
- Plumb GE, Dodd JL. 1993. Foraging ecology of bison and cattle on a mixed prairie implications for natural area management. *Ecological Applications* 3(4): 631-643.
- **Post WM, Emanuel WR, Zinke PJ, Stangenberger AG. 1982.** Soil carbon pools and world life zones. *Nature* **298**(5870): 156-159.
- Pucheta E, Bonamici I, Cabido M, Diaz S. 2004. Below-ground biomass and productivity of a grazed site and a neighbouring ungrazed exclosure in a grassland in central argentina. *Austral Ecology* 29(2): 201-208.
- **Riginos C, Young TP. 2007.** Positive and negative effects of grass, cattle, and wild herbivores on acacia saplings in an east african savanna. *Oecologia* **153**(4): 985-995.
- Roques KG, O'Connor TG, Watkinson AR. 2001. Dynamics of shrub encroachment in an african savanna: Relative influences of fire, herbivory, rainfall and density dependence. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 38(2): 268-280.
- **Sims PL, Singh JS. 1978.** Structure and function of 10 western north american grasslands. 3. Net primary production, turnover and efficiencies of energy capture and water-use. *Journal of Ecology* **66**(2): 573-597.
- **Soper JD. 1941.** History, range, and home life of the northern bison. *Ecological Monographs* **11**(4): 348-412.
- **Soper JD. 1964.** *The mammals of alberta*. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: Hamly Press.
- Steinaker DF, Wilson SD. 2008. Phenology of fine roots and leaves in forest and grassland. *Journal of Ecology* 96(6): 1222-1229.
- Stewart AM, Frank DA. 2008. Short sampling intervals reveal very rapid root turnover in a temperate grassland. *Oecologia* 157(3): 453-458.
- **Stohlgren TJ, Schell LD, Vanden Heuvel B. 1999.** How grazing and soil quality affect native and exotic plant diversity in rocky mountain grasslands. *Ecological Applications* **9**(1): 45-64.
- Strand AE, Pritchard SG, McCormack ML, Davis MA, Oren R. 2008.

 Irreconcilable differences: Fine-root life spans and soil carbon persistence.

 Science 319(5862): 456-458.
- **Towne EG, Hartnett DC, Cochran RC. 2005.** Vegetation trends in tallgrass prairie from bison and cattle grazing. *Ecological Applications* **15**(5): 1550-1559.

- Voeten MM, Prins HHT. 1999. Resource partitioning between sympatric wild and domestic herbivores in the tarangire region of tanzania. *Oecologia* 120(2): 287-294.
- **Volder A, Eissenstat DM. 2008.** Nitrate uptake rate declines rapidly as fine roots age: Evidence across functional types and growth conditions. *Hortscience* **43**(4): 1054-1054.
- Wisdom MJ, Vavra M, Boyd JM, Hemstrom MA, Ager AA, Johnson BK. 2006. Understanding ungulate herbivory-episodic disturbance effects on vegetation dynamics: Knowledge gaps and management needs. Wildlife Society Bulletin 34(2): 283-292.

Chapter 2. Non-additive effects of insects and ungulates on root growth in a native grassland

2.1 Introduction

Grassland communities are host to a diversity of herbivores. Insects and grasses have co-existed since the late Cretaceous (Labandeira & Sepkoski, 1993; Prasad *et al.*, 2005), and modern insects are now present in all the Earth's grasslands. Grazing mammals developed more recently in the Miocene as the climate dried and C₄ plants evolved (MacFadden, 1997; Vicentini *et al.*, 2008). Of the many vertebrates in grasslands ungulates are often the most obvious (MacFadden, 1997). Because of the potential for insect and ungulate herbivores to co-occur and feed within the same grassland, there is the potential for these two taxa to have interactive effects on plant growth and primary productivity.

Plant responses to insects are consistently negative. Regardless of the level of productivity, insects reduce grassland shoot production (Coupe & Cahill, 2003). Root biomass also decreases when insects feed above ground (Burleson & Hewitt, 1982; Cain *et al.*, 1991; Alward & Joern, 1993). Rhizomes increase when insects are suppressed (Cain *et al.*, 1991), and shoot-feeding insects increase deep-root mortality (Coupe *et al.*, 2009). Compared to insects, ungulate effects are highly variable.

A survey of the literature suggests that ungulates are as likely to increase shoot and root production and biomass as they are to decrease it (Milchunas & Lauenroth, 1993; Knapp *et al.*, 1999). Ungulates can stimulate growth aboveground, causing compensation, such that despite off-take by the ungulates, the resulting total amount of shoot production is equal between ungrazed and grazed areas (Vinton & Hartnett, 1992; Turner *et al.*, 1993; Biondini & Manske, 1996; Hickman & Hartnett, 2002; Pucheta *et al.*, 2004). Overcompensation, where total shoot production is higher with grazing than without grazing, also occurs (McNaughton, 1984; Paige, 1992; Knapp *et al.*, 1999; Frank *et al.*, 2002; Towne *et al.*, 2005). In other examples, ungulates cause a reduction in shoot growth (Vandermaarel & Titlyanova, 1989; Bock & Bock, 1993; Towne *et al.*, 2005). Because grasslands typically have very high root:shoot ratios, changes in

root allocation and root growth have been identified as an important component of compensatory responses (Frank *et al.*, 2002). The results belowground have been as varied as those found aboveground, with belowground productivity increasing (Sims & Singh, 1978; Vandermaarel & Titlyanova, 1989; McNaughton *et al.*, 1998; Frank *et al.*, 2002; Pucheta *et al.*, 2004; Gao *et al.*, 2008), decreasing (Sims & Singh, 1978; Milchunas & Lauenroth, 1989; Knapp *et al.*, 1999; Gao *et al.*, 2008), or staying constant (Biondini *et al.*, 1998; McNaughton *et al.*, 1998; Frank, 2007) in response to ungulate grazing.

Both native and introduced ungulates can play a dominant role influencing plant production (McNaughton, 1984; Plumb & Dodd, 1993; Fritz et al., 1996; Hobbs, 1996; Damhoureyeh & Hartnett, 1997), but few studies compare their relative effects (Wisdom et al., 2006). On the northern Great Plains of North America, bison (Bison bison), elk (Cervus canadensis), and mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) were historically the dominant ungulates (Allen, 1877; Murie, 1951; Soper, 1964). Today, cattle have largely replaced native ungulates, and native and introduced ungulates can have different effects on plant production (Damhoureyeh & Hartnett, 1997; Towne et al., 2005). For example, The effects size of bison grazing on graminoid and forb biomass is 15% greater than that of cattle (Towne et al., 2005), and both bison and cattle have subtle differences in their feeding preferences that leads to differences in plant community structure (Bock & Bock, 1993). These subtle differences may affect the type or direction of the interaction between ungulates and insects on grassland primary production.

Because the effects of ungulates on plant growth are substantially more varied than the effects of insects, the combined effects of these herbivore assemblages is difficult to predict. Nonetheless, understanding how insect and ungulate herbivory interactively affect plant production is essential our understanding of grassland community dynamics (Whiles & Charlton, 2006) and carbon cycling. To determine the independent and interactive effects of these herbivore guilds on plant productivity, we conducted a factorial experiment manipulating ungulate and insect densities in 50 hectares of rough-fescue

grassland. Secondly, we asked whether the composition of the ungulate assemblage (native or introduced) would influence any such interaction.

We show that the combined grazing of insects and ungulates, regardless of ungulate assemblage, has no effect on the aboveground plant productivity response to herbivory. In contrast, we demonstrate that insects eliminate the stimulatory effects of both native and introduced ungulates on root production.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study Site

The experiment was conducted from May 2004 to September 2005 on 50 ha of the University of Alberta Research Ranch near Kinsella, Alberta, Canada (53.09° N, 111.55° W). The research ranch is located in the Aspen Parkland native subregion, a savannah type mosaic of aspen stands and rough-fescue prairie (Barbour & Billings, 2000). Lowlands are dominated by *Carex* spp. and clonal aspen (*Populus tremuloides*), and uplands are dominated by *Festuca hallii*, *Poa spp.*, and *Hesperostipa spp.* Plant growth in the grassland habitat is both nitrogen and water limited (Lamb *et al.*, 2007). There is no history of cultivation at the field site, and the soil is a well-drained black chernozem. The dominant phytophagous insect orders are Hemipterans (aphids and leafhoppers) and Orthopterans (grasshoppers).

2.2.2 Experimental Design

The site was divided into 6 paddocks averaging 8.1 ± 2.4 (mean \pm s.d.) ha (Fig. 2.1). We used large paddocks, despite the limitations on sample size (n=3), because it allowed the ungulates to choose their feeding patches within a paddock. This may be especially pertinent in regards to this study, as ungulates had a choice as to whether they would graze areas with insect damage. We also recognized there may be differences in this decision among native and non-native assemblages.

Each paddock was assigned one of two ungulate assemblage treatments: domestic cattle (*Bos taurus*), or simultaneous bison (*Bison bison*), elk (*Cervus canadensis*) and white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) grazing (hereafter the cattle and native treatments, resp.). Paddock assignments were clustered to reduce

the cost of bison fencing. The native grazing assemblage is similar to the assemblages that existed on the grassland prior to European settlement (Allen, 1877; Murie, 1951; Soper, 1964, Telfer and Scotter 1975). Bison-proof fences 3.65 m tall surrounded the native assemblage paddocks. Fencing around cattle paddocks was standard barbed wire fencing.

Grazing intensity was moderate for this region. A summer graze occurred from June 1 until July 15 and a fall graze occurred September 1 until October 15 in both of 2004 and 2005. Stocking densities of individuals per paddock were assigned based on an *a priori* 45-day stocking rate of 2.4 animal unit months (AUM) / ha (Society for Range Management, 1998). Estimates of AUM were calculated to obtain 50% vegetation removal based on allometric relationships between intake, body size and preliminary estimates of available forage (De Witt, 2009). Unpredicted effects of the age structure of the ungulate community resulted in actual stocking densities lower than expected (1.6 AUM / ha) in 2004 (De Witt, 2009). Stocking densities were increased to an average observed level of 2.5 AUM / ha in 2005. This achieved the desired vegetation removal (De Witt, 2009).

Within all six paddocks, a single 10 X 30 m large mammal exclosure (barbed wire in the cattle treatments, bison and deer proof fencing in the native treatments) was installed on the grassland. Inside and outside of each exclosure we placed a pair of 2.5 x 2.5 m plots, 2 m apart, in grassland habitats. We randomly sprayed one plot within each pair with Lorsban 4E (Dow Chemical; 48% active ingredient), a chlorpyrifos-based contact insecticide. Lorsban 4E is a cholinesterase inhibitor (Eto, 1974) and broad spectrum insecticide (Kenaga *et al.*, 1965). The insecticide was applied at 0.0875 ml Lorsban 4E m⁻² (approximately 4.2 mL Lorsban 4E in 1.44 L of water; (Coupe *et al.*, 2009). This concentration is recommended for control of adult grasshoppers in crops in this region (Johnson, 1998), and has been effectively used in prior studies at this field location (Coupe *et al.*, 2009). Spraying began the second week of May in both 2004 and 2005 and continued on a biweekly schedule until the end of August.

To assess the effectiveness of insecticide application in 2004, we sweep netted each treatment plot. Sweep netting occurred once in July, five days after insecticide application. After finding that insecticide reduced insect abundance in 2004 (Table 2.1), in July 2005 we sub-sampled the plots by randomly selecting one half of the paddocks and collected insects from each treatment plot with sticky traps (Tangle Trap on 20 X 30 cm yellow acetate cards).

2.2.3 Response measurements

Plants were measured in the second year of the study (2005), prior to fall grazing, after 14 months of insecticide treatment and 3 applications of the ungulate grazing treatments (summer and fall 2004, and summer 2005). Relative root growth was estimated using an ingrowth coring method (Smit *et al.*, 2000), in which we dug a 30 cm deep, 20 X 20 cm hole in early May 2005, removed the roots, and backfilled the hole with root-free soil. At the end of the growing season (August 25, 2005), we re-cored the ingrowth hole to a depth of 20 cm using a 20 cm diameter root corer and separated the new root growth from the soil. All roots were separated from the soil by washing in a 1.00 mm mesh sieve, followed by drying at 60°C and weighing. Roots visually identified as dead were removed prior to weighing.

Concurrent with root sampling, we sampled aboveground vegetation by placing a 20 × 50 cm quadrat adjacent to the ingrowth cores. Living biomass was sampled by clipping at ground level. Samples were dried at 70 °C and weighed. Percent cover estimates were taken in late July, which corresponds to peak biomass during the growing season, within a 50 cm × 50 cm quadrat placed at the center of each plot.

2.2.4 Statistical Analyses

To analyze the impact of ungulate and insect herbivores on root, shoot (grass and forb) and total production (the summation of root and shoot production) we used a nested general linear mixed model, using the MIXED procedure in SAS (v. 9.2, SAS, 2009). Fixed factors were ungulate grazing, insect suppression, grazing assemblage, and the interaction between insects and